FILED SID J. WHITE

FEB 23 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

ν.

CASE NO. 84,427

DEWAYNE SMITH,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

MERITS BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #768870 444 Seabreeze Boulevard 5th Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged by amended information with two counts of unlawful sale of a counterfeit controlled substance and one count of unlawful possession of cocaine (R 36-37). Respondent plead guilty to two counts of unlawful sale of a counterfeit controlled substance and to the lesser included offense of attempted possession of cocaine (R 38-39). The written plea agreement contained the following:

- 4. I have read the information or indictment in this case and I understand the charge(s) to which I enter my plea(s). My attorney has explained to me the total maximum penalties for the charge(s) and as a result I understand the following:
- c. That should I be determined by the Judge to be a Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and should the judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of _____ years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of __-_ years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.
- d. That should I be determined by the Judge to be a Non-Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and should the judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of _____ years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of ____ years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.

(R 38) (Appendix A). The plea agreement also set forth that respondent was aware of all of the provisions and representations of the plea agreement, that he discussed the plea agreement with

his attorney and that he fully understood it (R 39). Respondent signed the written plea agreement (R 4, 7, 39).

During the plea hearing held on March 18, 1993, respondent stated that he had thoroughly read the plea agreement (R 7). Respondent also stated he had an adequate opportunity to ask questions of his attorney about the plea agreement Respondent understood the agreement and had no questions about it Respondent understood that a notice of intent (R 8). habitualize could be filed and if respondent was found to be a habitual offender his sentencing exposure would double to up to 20 years (R 10). Respondent also understood that he would not be entitled to basic gain time on any habitual offender sentence (R 10). Respondent stipulated to a factual basis based on the facts contained in the affidavits (R 10-11). The trial judge found freely, voluntarily, respondent's plea was knowingly intelligently made and the plea was accepted (R 11). The plea agreement was filed on March 18, 1993 (R 38).

On August 2, 1993, the trial judge filed notice and order for a separate proceeding to determine if respondent qualified as a habitual felony offender (R 40-41). Respondent filed a motion to strike the trial judge's notice of habitual offender sentencing (R 42).

On September 29, 1993, the sentencing hearing was held (R 16-27). The trial judge denied the motion to strike (R 19, 57). Respondent had no submission as to whether he qualified as a habitual offender (R 19). The trial judge found, based upon

respondent's prior convictions, that respondent qualified as a habitual offender (R 19-20, 21, 47, 49-50). Counsel for respondent requested that respondent be kept in county jail until bed space became available in a treatment program (R 20). Respondent had nothing to say in his own behalf (R 20). Respondent was adjudicated guilty (R 21, 44). Respondent was given a total sentence of five years incarceration followed by five years probation (R 21-22, 46-48).

Respondent appealed his conviction and sentence to the Fifth District Court of Appeal (R 58). On August 26, 1994, the Fifth District vacated respondent's sentence and remanded pursuant to the Fifth District's opinion in Thompson v. State, 638 So. 2d 116 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), review pending, case no. 83,951. Smith v. State, 642 So. 2d 69 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (Appendix B). Judge Griffin dissented finding that the trial judge's oral pronouncements were sufficient. In Thompson, supra, the Fifth Smith, at 70-71. District found that the acknowledgement contained in the plea agreement of the penalties that the defendant could receive if habitualized was insufficient to constitute notice of intent to habitualize. The acknowledgement found to be lacking in Thompson is the same as that found in respondent's plea agreement (R 38); Thompson, at 117.

Petitioner filed a notice to invoke jurisdiction.

Jurisdictional briefs were filed by both petitioner and respondent.

On January 18, 1994, this court accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District erred in determining that the plea agreement in this case was insufficient to give respondent notice that he may be sentenced as a habitual offender. Respondent read, understood, signed and discussed the plea agreement with his attorney. The plea agreement set forth that respondent could be habitualized, the maximum sentence he faced and that he would not be entitled to gain time. Petitioner asserts this was sufficient notice. It is both improper and impossible to inform a defendant that he "will" be habitualized; the most that may be said is a defendant may or possibly could be habitualized. If the plea agreement was insufficient notice, any error in failing to give respondent separate written notice was harmless as respondent had actual notice that he may be habitualized. The decision in this case should be quashed, respondent's conviction and sentence reinstated and the decision in Thompson, supra, overruled.

Furthermore, this court should re-examine and clarify its decision in Ashley, infra. The decision in this case and in Thompson, supra, crystallizes the problems inherent in the practical application of this court's decision in Ashley, infra. Thompson, supra, and the other cases cited herein indicate that Ashley, infra, raised more questions than it answered. Ashley, infra, should be clarified to reflect that notice which states only the possibility that a defendant may be habitualized is sufficient. Also, the affect of gain time or early release on a defendant's sentence is a collateral consequence, not a direct consequence.

Ashley, infra, should be clarified to reflect that a trial judge need only inform a defendant of the maximum possible sentence which may be imposed, not that he or she may serve more or less of that sentence depending upon which sentencing scheme the defendant is sentenced under. Finally, Ashley should be clarified as to whether or not an objection is required to preserve the issue for appellate review where some form of notice was given and the defendant later claims the notice was insufficient.

ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT HAD NOT BEEN GIVEN NOTICE OF THE INTENT TO HABITUALIZE PRIOR TO RESPONDENT ENTERING HIS PLEA; THE PLEA FORM RESPONDENT SIGNED, READ AND UNDERSTOOD GAVE RESPONDENT SUFFICIENT NOTICE, AS IT SET FORTH THE MAXIMUM SENTENCE THAT COULD BE IMPOSED IF RESPONDENT WAS HABITUALIZED AND THAT RESPONDENT WOULD NOT BE ENTITLED TO BASIC GAIN TIME; DUE TO THE CONFUSION CREATED BY THIS COURT'S DECISION IN ASHLEY, INFRA, THIS COURT SHOULD REVISIT AND CLARIFY ASHLEY.

In the instant case, a separate written notice of intent to habitualize was not filed prior to the entry of respondent's plea. However, unlike in <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1993), the failure to file a separate written notice is not fatal in this case. The plea agreement which respondent read, understood and signed set forth the following:

- 4. I have read the information or indictment in this case and I understand the charge(s) to which I enter my plea(s). My attorney has explained to me the total maximum penalties for the charge(s) and as a result I understand the following:
- c. That should I be determined by the Judge to be a Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and should the judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of 20 years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of -- years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.
- d. That should I be determined by the Judge to be a Non-Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and should the judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of ______ years imprisonment and a mandatory

minimum of ____ years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.

* * *

(R 38) (Appendix A). Petitioner asserts that the written plea agreement complied with section 775.084(3)(b), Fla. Stat. (1991) and this court's decision in <u>Ashley</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Petitioner asserts that the Fifth District's decision in this case and in Thompson, supra, is incorrect. In Thompson, the Fifth District held that a plea agreement which contained the identical language set forth above was insufficient notice as required by section 775.084 and Ashley, supra. In <u>Thompson</u>, the Fifth district overruled their prior decision in Oglesby v. State, 627 So. 2d 585 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), rev. denied, Case no. 82, 987 (Fla. March 11, 1994), wherein they held that the identical language in a plea agreement satisfied Ashley and that the harmless error analysis of Massey v. State, 609 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 1992), applied.2 Petitioner asserts that the Fifth District not only elevated form over substance in reaching the decision it did in Thompson, but also ignored this court's decision in Massey v. State, 609 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 1992). The majority in Thompson likewise ignored the sound and logical reasoning of Judge Goshorn's dissent. Petitioner further arrests that the decision in Thompson, supra, not only

¹⁽Appendix C)

²Oglesby sought review by this court based upon conflict with <u>Ashley</u>. This court denied review. Petitioner asserts that by declining to accept jurisdiction this court approved the decision in <u>Oglesby</u>.

expands the decision in <u>Ashley</u>, but crystallizes the problems inherent in the practical application of <u>Ashley</u>.

Section 775.084(3)(b) provides:

Written notice shall be served on the defendant and his attorney a sufficient time prior to the entry of a plea or prior to the imposition of sentence so as to allow the preparation of a submission on behalf of the defendant.

The purpose of the notice requirement is to prevent a defendant from being surprised at sentencing and to allow the defendant and/or the defendant's attorney the opportunity to prepare for the hearing. Massey, at 600; see also Roberts v. State, 559 So. 2d 289, 291 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Section 775.084(3)(b) does not specify the form the written notice must take or the words the notice must or must not contain.

The Fifth District has elevated form to a new height over substance in Thompson. In finding the written plea agreement to be insufficient to give the defendant notice of habitual offender sentencing, petitioner asserts that the Fifth District found that the procedural aspect or the actual written notice was of paramount importance to the substantive purpose, preparation of a submission in the defendant's behalf. Petitioner asserts that such a finding portion ο£ section places the importance on the wrong 775.084(3)(b).

In this case, the plea agreement stated that a hearing may be set to determine if respondent qualified as a habitual felony or violent felony offender (R 38) (Appendix A). The plea agreement set forth the maximum sentences respondent was facing if found to

be a habitual offender. At neither the plea nor the sentencing hearing did petitioner argue, object or complain that he did not know that he was facing a possible sentence as a habitual offender (R 1-15, 16-27). Petitioner acknowledges that this court has held that such an objection is not necessary for the preservation of the issue for appellate review where no notice has been given. Ashley, at 490. Petitioner asserts that an objection was necessary in this case, as respondent was given notice. However, whether an objection was required or not, petitioner asserts that the lack of such an objection in this case is telling and supports petitioner's claim that respondent had knowledge of possible habitual offender sentencing. The written plea agreement was sufficient written notice.

Should this court determine that the plea agreement was insufficient written notice, respondent had actual notice and any failure to provide separate written notice was harmless in this case pursuant to <u>Massey</u>, <u>supra</u>. The Fifth District in <u>Oglesby</u> found that <u>Massey</u> applied to such situations. The Fifth District

In Ashley, at 490, this court held that an objection to lack of notice was not required to preserve the issue for appellate review as it is a purely legal sentencing issue. Petitioner asserts that the only time an objection would not be required is in an Ashley-type situation, i.e., the defendant pled with absolutely no notice or knowledge that he or she may be habitualized. Petitioner asserts that in cases such as the instant one, where a defendant has both knowledge and notice that he may be habitualized an objection to the form of the notice is required. Here, respondent was given notice in the plea agreement. There was no objection to the form of the notice. Petitioner asserts that respondent's failure to object waived the issue for appellate review. This court should clarify Ashley so that it is clear under what circumstances an objection is required and when one is not.

ignored <u>Massey</u> in overruling <u>Oglesby</u>. <u>See Thompson</u>, <u>supra</u>. Petitioner asserts that it was error for the Fifth District to ignore <u>Massey</u>, as <u>Massey</u> is applicable to the instant case.

In Massey, at 598-599, Massey had actual knowledge that he may be sentenced as a habitual felony offender although he was never served with written notice. This court found any error was In the instant case, the plea agreement harmless. <u>Id</u>. at 600. informed respondent that he could be sentenced as a habitual felony offender and gave respondent and his attorney an opportunity to prepare for the hearing. Respondent went over the agreement with his lawyer prior to entering his plea, understood the agreement and signed the agreement (R 4, 7, 8, 39). Furthermore, prior to the trial judge accepting respondent's plea, the trial judge told respondent that he could be sentenced as a habitual offender and he was facing a maximum sentence of 20 years as a habitual offender (R 10).

Petitioner asserts that the purpose of the written notice requirement was accomplished in this case, as respondent had actual notice, both from the plea agreement and the trial judge, that he could be facing a habitual offender sentence and what that maximum sentence was. Respondent was given an opportunity to prepare for the hearing. "It is inconceivable that [respondent] was prejudiced by not having received the written notice [prior to the entry of his plea]." Massey, at 600. The failure to provide written notice was harmless in this case. Massey, supra; Lewis v. State, 636 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); Mansfield v. State, 618 So. 2d 1385

(Fla. 2d DCA 1993); see also Lucas v. State, 630 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (any error in failing to determine that predicate offense had not been pardoned or set aside was harmless); Critton v. State, 619 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (same); Green v. State, 623 So. 2d 1237 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (any error in habitualization was harmless); Suarez v. State, 616 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) (any error in failing to make required statutory findings was harmless where defendant accepted habitual offender sentence and waived right to hearing); Bonaventure v. State, 637 So. 2d 55 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (where evidence unrebutted, error in failing to make specific findings in support of habitual offender sentence was harmless); Pompa v. State, 635 So. 2d 114 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (same).

In <u>Thompson</u> and in this case, the Fifth District held that the acknowledgement in the written plea agreement did not comply with <u>Ashley</u> because the plea agreement said that respondent may be sentenced as a habitual offender rather than respondent would be sentenced as a habitual offender. Petitioner asserts that this court did not hold in <u>Ashley</u> that a defendant must be told unequivocally that he would be sentenced as a habitual offender prior to entering his plea, only that he may or possibly could be facing such a sentence. The Fifth District played a game of semantics which did not need to and should not have been played.

In Ashley, at 480, this court held that

in order for a defendant to be habitualized following a guilty or nolo plea, the following must take place prior to acceptance of the plea: 1) The defendant must be given written

notice of intent to habitualize, and 2) the court must confirm that the defendant is personally aware of the **possibility** and reasonable consequences of habitualization. (Footnote omitted; emphasis added).

In reaching this holding, this court set forth the following:

Because habitual offender maximums "maximum possible constitute the clearly penalty provided by law" -- exceeding both the quidelines and standard statutory maximums -and because habitual offender sentences are imposed in a significant number of cases, our ruling in Williams [v. State, 316 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 1975),] and the plain language of [Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure] 3.172 require that before a court may accept a guilty or nolo plea from an eligible defendant it must ascertain that the defendant is aware of the possibility and reasonable consequences of habitualization. To state the obvious, in order for the plea to be "knowing," i.e., in order for the defendant to understand the reasonable consequences of his or her plea, the defendant must "know" beforehand that his or her potential sentence may be many times greater what it ordinarily would have been under the guidelines . . .

Ashley, at 489 (emphasis added).

There is nothing in <u>Ashley</u> to indicate that this court intended that a defendant be told prior to entering his plea that he would, as the Fifth District held, be sentenced as a habitual felony offender. Furthermore, section 775.084(3)(b) does not specify the form the written notice must take or the words it must or must not contain. According to <u>Ashley</u>, the defendant must only know of the possibility that such sentencing may occur. The Fifth District ignored the plain language of <u>Ashley</u>.

The use of the word "may" in the plea agreement told respondent of the possibility that he could be sentenced as a

habitual felony offender. It would be not only improper, but impossible to tell a defendant that he will be sentenced as a habitual offender, as opposed to telling the defendant he or she may be habitualized. While a defendant may have the requisite convictions, the state may be unable to document those convictions. If the state is unable to offer certified judgements and sentences and the defendant does not stipulate to his prior record, the defendant will not be found to be a habitual offender. case, having told the defendant that he would be habitualized was error and may be grounds for the defendant to withdraw his plea. If part of the plea agreement was that the defendant would be sentenced as a habitual offender and the defendant was not so sentenced, the state would also have grounds for invalidating the plea agreement. The purpose of the notice is not to inform the defendant that he or she will be habitualized, but rather that he or she may be habitualized.

Furthermore, as pointed out by the dissent of Judge Goshorn in Thompson, at 118, "[t]here are consequences, both legal and practical" to the state or the trial judge advising a defendant that he will be habitualized.

Requiring the court to announce to a defendant, before accepting his or her plea, that the court will (as opposed to may) habitualize requires the court to make its decision prior to receipt and review of a presentence investigation, section 921.231, Fla. Stat. (1993), prior to a sentencing hearing and prior to review of any victim impact, section 921.143, Fla. Stat. (1993), all of which is contrary to the requirements of a sentencing hearing and is sure to raise additional legal challenges and charges that

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