)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

MAR 15 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

**Chief Deputy Clerk** 

By

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

DEWAYNE SMITH,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 84,427

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

## RESPONDENT'S MERITS BRIEF

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MANCY RYAN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar Number 765910 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 Phone: 904/252-3367

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

The Legislature, when it passed the current version of the habitual offender statute, required that defendants must receive written notice of intent to pursue habitual offender treatment "prior to the entry of a plea." Section 775.084(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1993). This court's decision in <u>Ashley</u> gives meaning to that language. Disapproving the Fifth District's decisions in these cases would empty <u>Ashley</u>, and that portion of the statute, of any meaning, and the decision in this case should accordingly be affirmed.

The State relies on Judge Goshorn's dissent in <u>Thompson</u>, arguing that it is both improper and impossible to decide at the time a plea is entered whether a particular defendant qualifies for habitual offender treatment, since the court must first consider the information in the presentence investigation report required by Section 775.084(3)(a). <u>See Thompson</u>, <u>supra</u>, 638 So.

2d at 118-19 and section 931.231, Florida Statutes. This concern is overstated; the statutory notice requirement does not put the trial courts in an impossible position. The trial courts do not have to have all of the information that appears in a presentence investigation (PSI) before them when they take pleas; the statute does require the State, and the trial courts, to have enough information before entering into or accepting plea bargains to know whether the standard sentencing range, or the substantially more severe habitual-offender sentencing range, is appropriate. In doubtful cases, nothing in the Florida Statutes precludes the trial courts from ordering a PSI before accepting a plea.<sup>1</sup> The State's argument, in effect, is that pleas are routinely taken so early on in the process that neither the State nor the trial courts can be expected to know whether defendants have prior records or not at that point. The State and the courts can equip themselves with that much information before a plea is accepted,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This court in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 316 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 1975), anticipated that PSI's would be available to the trial courts at the time pleas were entered, see 316 So. 2d at 273, and opinions from the district courts indicate that PSI's are, at least in some cases, ordered before pleas are taken. See Smith v. State, 559 So. 2d 1281, 1282 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) and Shaw v. State, 546 So. 2d 796, 798 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). The 1994 sentencing guidelines appear to mandate pre-plea PSI's, since sentences recommended under that scheme supersede statutory maximum sentences. Compare section 921.001(5), Florida Statutes (1993), with section 775.082(3), Florida Statutes. Without a pre-plea PSI, the trial courts in 1994 cases will be unable to advise defendants what the maximum possible sentence is for their offenses; the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, as well as the federal constitution, require that that advice be given in open court before any guilty or no contest plea is taken. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1969); Rule 3.172(c)(1), Fla.R.Crim.P.

and the Legislature and this court have reasonably required them to do so. Section 775.084 (3)(b); <u>Ashley</u>.

The State also argues that the respondent did not preserve for appeal the point he argued in the district court, since he did not object at sentencing to the late habitual offender notice. The State acknowledges that in Ashley this court held that the timeliness of notice is a sentencing issue that can be determined by the appellate court from the record, and that accordingly no objection in the trial court is necessary to preserve the issue. Ashley, 614 So. 2d at 490; see Taylor v. State, 601 So. 2d 540, 541-2 (Fla. 1992). The State attempts to distinguish Ashley on the basis that the defendant in that case had no notice until sentencing that the State would seek habitual offender treatment, while in this case the defendant was notified between plea and sentencing that the court would consider habitual offender treatment. The distinction is one without a difference; Ashley, like the respondent in the instant case, could have objected at sentencing but did not waive the issue for appellate consideration by failing to do so, since the issue is one that can be determined from the record. Taylor, supra, 601 So. 2d at 541-2.

The notice given in this case did not comply with the habitual offender statute or with this court's decision in <u>Ashley, supra</u>. The respondent in this case was notified, before he entered his plea, only that one of Florida's sentencing schemes would be applied in his case. The District Court cor-

rectly vacated the respondent's sentence for that reason, and its decision in this case should be affirmed.

# B. This court should disregard the State's challenge to <u>Ashley v. State</u>.

The State also argues, with some urgency, that this court should recede from <u>Ashley</u> both because that decision was "erroneous" and because it has confused the trial courts beyond hope of redemption. The burden of the former argument appears to be that federal constitutional caselaw does not mandate the result reached in <u>Ashley</u>. Nothing in <u>Ashley</u> suggests that this court believed it was compelled by federal authority to reach its decision; on the contrary, this court expressly stated that its holding was based on Rule 3.172, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, on its own prior caselaw, and on the notice provision in the habitual offender statute. <u>Ashley</u>, 614 So. 2d at 489-90. <u>Boykin v. Alabama</u>, <u>supra</u>, is cited in <u>Ashley</u> for the reasonable principle that a defendant should know the significance of his guilty plea before he enters it. 614 So. 2d at 488; <u>accord</u> Rule 3.170 (k), Fla.R.Crim.P.

The State raises the specter of a possible equal protection challenge to <u>Ashley</u>, suggesting that <u>Ashley</u> distinguishes one class of defendants from another unfairly in that only habitual offenders must be notified of the effect control release may have on their sentences. This court dealt with that potential objection in <u>Ashley</u>, noting that the habitual offender statute is used in a significant number of cases and crafting an appropriately general admonition, to the effect that "habitualization may

affect the possibility of early release through certain programs." 614 So. 2d at 489, 490 n.8. As the State correctly notes in another context in its brief, it would be impossible to advise every defendant in detail how each of the control release programs will affect his sentence. (Petitioner's merits brief at 36)

The State also suggests that <u>Ashley</u> should be abandoned or modified because it cannot be reconciled with <u>State v. Ginebra</u>, 511 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 1987). In <u>Ginebra</u>, this court applied the rule that the trial courts are, in general, obliged to notify defendants of only the direct consequences, and not the collateral consequences, of their pleas. The State insists that the total number of months or years pronounced by the trial court at sentencing is the only aspect of a prison term that can logically be considered the direct consequence of a plea, and that all other aspects of a sentence--no matter how foreseeably those aspects will affect the actual length of time the defendant serves--are and must be referred to as "collateral." Even if this made any sense, the direct/ collateral distinction should not operate as a limitation on what this court can require of the trial courts as a matter of fairness.

What <u>Ashley</u> requires of trial judges is simply that they notify eligible defendants that "habitualization may affect the possibility of early release through certain programs." 614 So. 2d at 490 n.8. This straightforward required statement will not, as the State suggests, lead to confusion every time the Legislature tinkers with the mechanism for releasing prisoners due to

overcrowding. Since 1988, although that mechanism has been changed from "administrative gain time" to "provisional release credits" to "control release,"<sup>2</sup> habitual offenders have occupied substantially the same position vis-a-vis the general prison population: habitual offenders are never awarded the ten days per month basic gain time the general population receives, and habitual offenders have always been either ineligible, or not fully eligible, for the current version of early release for overcrowding. <u>Compare</u> Section 775.084 (4)(e), Florida Statutes (1988 supp.) with Section 775.084 (4)(e), Florida Statutes (1993); <u>see</u> ch. 93-406, s.2, Laws of Florida. This general status is reasonably, and fairly, made known to defendants who are considering plea offers by the language approved in <u>Ashley</u>, and the opinion in <u>Ashley</u> needs no modification on this score.

The State also argues that the opinion in <u>Ashley</u> "has raised as many questions as it answered," suggesting that the opinion is so confusing it should be withdrawn. The State relies on the instant case and on <u>Horton v. State</u>, 646 So.2d 253 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), <u>jurisdiction pending</u> no. 84,994 (Fla. 1995); <u>State v.</u> <u>Will</u>, 645 So. 2d 91 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994); <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 645 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); and <u>Heatley v. State</u>, 636 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>rev. den</u>. no. 83,723 (Fla. September 7, 1994), to make that point. In <u>Will</u>, the Third District held that <u>Ashley</u> should not be applied retroactively. In <u>Horton</u> and <u>Heat-</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup><u>See</u> Sections 944.276, Florida Statutes (1987); 944.277, Florida Statutes (1988 supp.); 944.278, Florida Statutes (1993); 947.146, Florida Statutes (1993).

ley, the First District held--contrary to the instant case and to the plain wording of Ashley--that as long as a defendant has notice that he may be habitualized he need not receive notice of the predictable consequences of habitualization. In <u>Wilson</u>, the Fourth District held that the proper remedy, when a plea is taken in violation of Ashley, is a remand for a guidelines sentence; some of the cases now on review from the Fifth District hold that the proper remedy is a remand for the defendant to be permitted to withdraw his plea. <u>E.g., Thompson v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. (See Point II of this brief) These cases do not reveal an inordinate degree of confusion among the trial courts. Horton and Heatley should be quashed, <u>Wilson</u> should be approved, and the cases now on review from the Fifth District should be approved as to the notice issue and disapproved as to the remedy issue. Ashley itself is abundantly clear, and the State has not shown that it should be withdrawn or amended.

## C. The trial court's sua sponte notice of intent to impose habitual offender treatment should be given no legal effect.

Even if the Fifth District court had incorrectly applied <u>Ashley</u> in the instant case, its decision vacating the sentence would be correct because the trial judge improperly issued his own notice of intent to consider habitual offender treatment. That notice should be given no legal effect, since the Legislature contemplates that the notice required by Section 775.084(3)(b) is to be issued only by State Attorney's offices. The Fifth District Court of Appeal recently noted that

[t]he judge's ability to initiate habitual offender treatment has been placed in doubt by the enactment of section 775.08401, Florida Statutes (1993), which requires the "state attorney within each judicial district" to adopt uniform criteria to determine the eligibility requirements in determining which multiple offenders should be pursued as habitual offenders in order to ensure "fair and impartial application of the habitual offender statute." It appears that this statute, effective June 17, 1993, may very well have "repealed" <u>Toliver v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), rev. denied 618 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1993), which permitted the sentencing judge to initiate habitual offender consideration. It now appears that the legislature has determined that it is only the state attorney, in order to ensure "fair and impartial application, " who can seek habitual offender treatment of a defendant --and then only if the defendant meets... circuit-wide uniform criteria.

<u>Santoro v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 585, 586 n.4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), <u>jurisdiction accepted</u> no. 84,758 (Fla. February 22, 1995).

Legislative intent is the polestar by which the courts must be guided in construing statutes. <u>State v. Webb</u>, 398 So. 2d 820, 824 (Fla. 1981). The intent of a statute is the law, and that intent should be duly ascertained and effectuated. <u>American</u> <u>Bakeries Company v. Haines City</u>, 180 So. 524, 532 (Fla. 1938). The respondent submits that the Fifth District court has ascertained the Legislature's intention on this point, and that this court should effectuate that intent by affirming the Fifth District's decision in this case.

Also, as one judge has noted, "the wisdom and propriety of [habitual offender] notice issuing from the trial court is...questionable.... The appearance of impartiality of a sentencing judge may be compromised when he or she has already filed a notice to invoke a [discretionary] sentencing enhancement procedure." Steiner v. State, 591 So. 2d 1070, 1072 and n.2 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) (Lehan, J., concurring). The record of the respondent's case illustrates the gravity of Judge Lehan's concerns. Here the judge accepted a plea without any particularized mention of the habitual offender statute, returned the defendant to jail, brought him back for sentencing, announced his intention of considering habitualization, returned the defendant to jail, brought him back for sentencing a second time, then imposed a habitual offender sentence. (R 42) Unsurprisingly, the respondent did not protest at that point that he would prefer to withdraw his plea, return to jail, and wait for his attorney to begin preparing for trial. This procedure ensures a large number of pleas, but does not adequately protect the right to due process of law and does not effectuate the Legislature's intentions for the notice provision in Section 775.084. See generally Boykin v. Alabama, supra; Santoro v. State, supra.

As Judge Lehan notes, and as trial counsel argued in this case, the procedure used in this case creates the appearance that the court has become an arm of the prosecution. (R 43) Proceedings involving criminal charges must both be and appear to be fundamentally fair. <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 636 So. 2d 498, 501

(Fla. 1994). The procedure used to obtain the plea in these cases should be disapproved; the district court's decision vacating the respondent's sentence should be affirmed for that reason.

### D. Failure to give proper notice was not harmless error.

The State argues that even if notice of intent to pursue habitual offender treatment was not properly given in this cases, the error was harmless. The State has not met its burden of showing beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was harmless, and the district court's decision vacating the sentence in this case should be affirmed.

The State relies on Massey v. State, 609 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 1992), Lewis v. State, 636 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), and Mansfield v. State, 618 So. 2d 1385 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), in support of its argument on this point. None of those cases support its position. In Massey, the defendant went to trial; the record showed that he had actual notice, but not the requisite written notice, that the State would seek habitual offender treatment in his case. At sentencing, he argued that since the statutory notice was not complied with, he was entitled to a guidelines sentence. This court sensibly affirmed Massey's habitual offender sentence, since the State affirmatively proved that Massey suffered no conceivable prejudice from the State's failure to serve the written notice on substitute trial counsel. 609 So. 2d at 600. In Lewis and Mansfield, the defendants entered into plea bargains that expressly called for them to be sentenced as habitual offenders. Neither of those defendants was allowed to

benefit from the fact the State did not file a written notice in addition to the plea forms. In all three of those cases, the State plainly proved harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt; here the defendant entered into a plea without notice that he would be considered for habitual offender treatment, an error which this court has held is excessively prejudicial to a defendant's rights. <u>Ashley</u>. Here the respondent did not have actual notice he would be habitualized, and the district court's decision vacating his sentence should be affirmed.

#### POINT II

THE RESPONDENT'S CASE SHOULD BE REMANDED FOR RESENTENCING PURSUANT TO THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES.

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